A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Assignments of Error 

1. The trial court erred in granting Respondent V -Squared' s motion 

for summary judgment on the grounds that Appellant Ravikovich's 

legal action was precluded by collateral estoppel. (RP 19. CP 187-

189). 

2. The trial court erred in finding that Ravikovich's CPA claims were 

collaterally estopped. (RP 19). 

3. The trial court erred in finding that the issues decided in prior 

litigation between Ravikovich and V -Squared were identical. (RP 

19. CP 13-27). 

4. The trial court erred in finding that adjudication ofthe issues 

presented in Ravikovich v. V-Squared, LLC, El ai, have ended in a 

final judgment on the merits. (RP 19. CP 13-27. CP 187-189). 

5. The trial court erred in not considering the fact that Appellant 

Ravikovich's had no fair opportunity to present his present CPA 

claims in former arbitration. (RP 1-20. CP 13-27. CP 187-189). 

6. The trial court erred in finding that Respondent V -Squared 

demonstrated that the determinative issue was litigated in a prior 

proceeding. (RP 19. CP 13-27. CP 187-189). 
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7. The trial court erred in finding that Respondent V -Squared 

demonstrated that the fact determined in the first action was 

essential and not merely collateral or incidental, to the right 

asserted by Appellant Ravikovich in his second action. (RP 19). 

8. The trial court erred in finding that the judgment in the first cause 

of action between Appellant Ravikovich and Respondent V­

Squared was conclusive in Ravikovich's subsequent and different 

cause of action under Consumer Protection Act claims. (RP 19). 

9. The trial court erred in dismissing Ravikovich' s CPA claims. (RP 

19. CP 187-189). 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. In July 2008, V -Squared arbitrated its breach of contract for 

moneys due lawsuit against Ravikovich. In arbitration only the issues of 

enforceability of contract and existing easement were decided. In June 

2011, Ravikovich filed his lawsuit against V-Squared, LLC, claiming 

violation of the Consumer Protection Act (CPA). Does the doctrine of 

collateral estoppel foreclose the assertion of Ravikovich' s present 

violation of CP A claims? 

(Assignments of error 1, 2, 6, and 9). 

2. In 2008 action brought by V-Squared against Ravikovich, only V­

Squared, LLC, made claims against Ravikovich for breach of contract and 

Brief of Appellant RA VIKOVICH 2 



money due. Ravikovich asserted defenses to such V -Squared claims, but 

Ravikovich did not counterclaim against V-Squared. In 2011, Ravikovich 

filed separate lawsuit against V -Squared, LLC, alleging CPA violations. 

Was the doctrine of collateral estoppel properly invoked against 

Appellant's present CPA claims merely because V-Squared and 

Ravikovich arbitrated breach of contract and easement claims in their 

earlier action, even though Ravikovich's CPA claim was not in issue and 

was not adjudicated? 

(Assignments of Error 3,4,5, 7, 8 and 9). 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE: 

I . The Parties 

Alex Ravikovich, appellant herein, is a resident in Seattle, King 

County, Washington. 

V -Squared, LLC, respondent herein, is a Limited Liability 

Company, licensed to operate business in the state of Washington. 

2. Factual Background 

Appellant Alex Ravikovich is the legal owner of the real property 

in Bellevue, King County Washington, located at 2190 I 40th PL S.E. 

Bellevue, W A 98007. 
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Robert Long is the legal owner of the real property located at 2186 

140th PL S.E. Bellevue, WA 98007. Robert Long's parcel is adjacent to 

Ravikovich's property. Robert Long is not a party to this appeal. 

Respondent V -Squared LLC, is a Washington Limited Liability 

Company and registered to operate its business in the state of Washington. 

On April 28, 2006, Respondent V -Squared LLC as principal through its 

agent managing member Vadim Tsemekhman, entered into contract with 

Ravikovich to build a house on Ravikovich's property at the aforesaid 

address. (CP 28-40). 

On July 24, 2006, Respondent V -Squared LLC entered into an 

agreement with Ravikovich's neighbor Robert Long whereby Robert Long 

allowed V-Squared LLC construction of a retaining wall on Long's 

property. (CP 109-112). Respondent V-Squared LLC constructed 

driveway and retaining wall. Respondent V -Squared LLC billed 

Ravikovich for Construction of above said Driveway and retaining wall. 

The work performed by Respondent V -Squared LLC did not satisfy 

conditions of the agreement with Long. 

Respondent V-Squared LLC did not disclose to Ravikovich its 

agreement with Long. V -Squared LLC did not prepare and did not register 

any necessary documents regarding the easement. Ravikovich was not 

aware of any problems developing with Long at the time. 
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After construction of the driveway, approximately in August 2007, 

V-Squared LLC abandoned any further work on Appellant's property. 

After V -Squared abandoned any further work on appellant's 

property, Ravikovich has made his first contact with his neighbor Robert 

Long regarding the driveway. During the first meeting between 

Ravikovich and Long, Long instructed Ravikovich to prepare the 

easement for ingress, egress and utilities which Long promised to sign. 

Under conditions ofthe agreement, Ravikovich was to clean up the debris 

left after V-Squared work, to pressure wash his house, to paint his front 

deck and rear deck. All the work requested by Long was timely performed 

by Ravikovich. Robert Long agreed to grant a pennanent easement 

allowing construction of a retaining wall on Long's property, in full and 

fair consideration of Ravikovich' s agreement to bear the cost of cleaning 

and making certain improvements to Long's property. Appellant 

Ravikovich had fully performed his obligation under the above-described 

easement agreement with Robert Long - whereby Long would grant a 

permanent easement allowing construction of a retaining wall on Long's 

property - by repeatedly bearing the cost of cleaning up and improving 

Long's property. 

Appellant Ravikovich made various improvements to Long's 

property in reliance on Long's promise to grant a permanent easement 
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authorizing the retaining wall. Upon completion of all the work for Robert 

Long, Long refused to sign the easement. Long thereafter began 

demanding financial compensation from Ravikovich by requesting various 

sums of money in return for the promise to sign the easement agreement. 

In 2008, Long demanded removal or reconstruction of the portions 

of the Ravikovich's house that encroached on Long's property. 

3. Procedural Background 

On July 11, 2008, Mr. Long filed a lawsuit against Ravikovich 

under King Co. Cause No. 08-2-23129-1. (CP 118-123). 

On August 12,2008, Appellant Ravikovich filed Third-Party 

Complaint against V --Squared LLC. 

On June 18,2010, the Long Lawsuit was dismissed on motion of 

the Clerk, without prejudice for failure to prosecute. (CP 57). 

As a result, on June 6,2011, Ravikovich refiled de novo his claims 

against Respondent V -Squared for the Violation of the Consumer 

Protection Act, RCW 19.86 and Unfair or Deceptive Acts or Practices. 

(CP 59-67). 

On June 20,2011, V-Squared, LLC, filed its appearance with the 

trial court. 

On August 5, 2011, V-Squared, LLC, filed its answer and 

affirmative defenses. 

Brief of Appellant RA VIKOVICH 6 



On September 28, 20 12, V-Squared, LLC, filed motion for 

summary judgment. (CP 1-9). 

On October 26,2012, after hearing the trial court granted V­

Squared, LLC, motion for summary judgment and entered order 

dismissing Ravikovich's lawsuit. (CP 187-189). 

On November 20,2012, Ravikovich timely filed this appeal. 

C. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The current Ravikovich's proceeding was adjudication on whether V­

Squared, LLC, violated Consumer Protection Act. That issue was not an 

issue litigated in previous proceeding with relation to V -Squared breach of 

contract claim. (CP 13-27). 

It is important at the outset to distinguish the re-litigation of claims 

from the re-litigation of issues. Res judicata only bars re-litigation of the 

same claim. Collateral estoppel precludes re-litigation of issues in a 

second suit that have previously been litigated and decided in prior action. 

Collateral estoppel only precludes appellant Ravikovich from re­

litigating issues that were actually litigated and decided in a prior action 

with V -Squared, LLC. If an issue could have been raised in the first case 

but was not explicitly raised and decided, collateral estoppel will not bar 

Ravikovich from litigating that issue in a subsequent action against V­

Squared, LLC. 
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Collateral estoppel bars Ravikovich from re-litigating specific 

issues decided in the first action, such as the validly of the contract and its 

terms between V -Squared, LLC, and Ravikovich; whether V -Squared, 

LLC; change order process; excessive lien on Ravikovich's property by V­

Squared, LLC, for its contractor services; and whether Ravikovich could 

raise defense to the contract under RCW 18.27.080 based on V-Squared, 

LLC, initial failure to properly register its business. Ravikovich is 

collaterally estopped from trying again to prove the issues of validity of 

contract, V-Squared, LLC, and raising RCW 18.27.080 as a defense to the 

contract. However, Ravikovich is free to litigate other issues not resolved 

in the earlier action. Thus, Ravikovich could still claim CPA violations in 

his later suit against V -Squared, LLC, based on Long's lawsuit for 

trespass and ejectment and Long's demand to remove the encroaching 

portion of Ravikovich's house from the Long's property. 

Collateral estoppel does not preclude all possible issues that might 

have been raised in a prior action but only those actually decided in that 

action. In order to invoke collateral estoppel against Ravikovich's present 

CP A claim, V -Squared, LLC, must meet the basic prerequisites: First, the 

issue in the second case must be the same as the issue in the first. Second, 

the issue must have been actually litigated. Third, even if an issue was 

litigated in a prior action, collateral estoppel will not bar re-litigation 

Brief of Appellant RA VIKOVICH 8 



unless the issue was actually decided. Fourth, it is usually said that 

collateral estoppel will not apply unless the decision on the issue in the 

prior action was necessary to the court's judgment because in the course of 

a suit, the judge may decide a number of issues that do not ultimately 

determine the outcome of the case. I 

V -Squared, LLC, failed to satisfy the above stated criteria. The 

issues that could be raised and that were raised in previous proceedings 

and current proceeding were different. As a result, the issues in the current 

proceeding could not have been litigated in the previous proceeding. 

D. ARGUMENT 

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Appellate courts review orders granting summary judgment de 

novo, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court.2 A court may grant 

summary judgment if there are no genuine issues as to any material fact, 

thus entitling the moving party to judgment as a matter oflaw.3 

The court considers the evidence in the light most favorable to the 

nonmoving party.4 When reasonable persons could reach but one 

conclusion, summary judgment should be granted. 5 

I Restatement (Second) 0/ Judgments §27 (1982). 
2 Qwest Corp. v. City o/Bellevue, 161 Wn.2d 353,358, 166 P.3d 667 (2007). 
3 Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400, 144 Wn.2d 16,26, 109 P.3d 805 
(2005). 
4 CLEAN v. City o/Spokane, 133 Wn.2d 455,462,947 P.2d 1169 (1997). 
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The trial court granted summary judgment on the basis of collateral 

estoppel. In doing so it rejected V -Squared, LLC, argument that res 

judicata also applied. 

II. RAVIKOVICH' S ISSUES IN HIS CPA CLAIMS WERE 
NOT IDENTICAL TO THE ISSUES ARBITRATED IN 
PRIOR LITIGATION BETWEEN RA VIKOVICH AND 
V-SQUARED 

The purpose of collateral estoppel is to prevent relitigation of a 

particular issue or a determinative fact after the party estopped has a full 

and fair opportunity to present its case in order to promote the policy of 

ending disputes. 6 

Collateral estoppel requires: 

(1) the issue decided in the prior adjudication must be identical with the 

one presented in the second; 

(2) the prior adjudication must have ended in a final judgment on the 

merits; 

(3) the party against whom the plea of collateral estoppel is asserted 

must have been a party or in privity with a party to the prior 

litigation; and 

5 Hansen v. Friend, 118 Wn.2d 476, 485,842 P.2d 483 (1992). 
6 Seattle-First National Bankv. Cannon, 26 Wash.App. 922, 927,615 P.2d 1316 (1980) 
(citing State v. Dupard, 93 Wash.2d 268, 609 P.2d 961 (1980); Beagles v. Seattle-First 
National Bank, 25 Wash.App. 925, 929, 610 P.2d 962 (1980). 
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(4) application of the doctrine must not work an injustice. 7 

The first prerequisite for collateral estoppel is that the issues in the 

two suits must be the same. Therefore, analysis of collateral estoppel 

should always begin with a determination of what was decided in the 

first action. In this case the issue in the first suit was whether 

Ravikovich's defense under RCW 18.27.020 defeated V-Squared, LLC, 

and claim for breach of contract on the grounds that V -Squared, LLC, 

failed to register. (CP 13-16). The arbitrator entered his finding that 

Ravikovich's defense under RCW 18.27.020 was not adequate to defeat 

V -Squared, LLC, claim for breach of contract. The arbitrator made a 

finding that the contract between the parties was not effected until May 

20, 2006. (CP 15). The arbitrator further determined that there was 

contract between Ravikovich and V-Squared, LLC. (CP 16). The 

arbitrator further considered two other issues: the elevation problem and 

change orders. (CP 16). 

The issue in Ravikovich's present suit was whether V-Squared, 

LLC, violated Consumer Protection Act by building Ravikovich's house 

so that it intruded on the Long's property and required removal or 

reconstruction to correct the problem. Ravikovich' s CPA claim also has 

absolutely distinct type of remedy, which entitles him to treble damages 

7 Bull v. Fenich, 34 Wo. App. 435,438,661 P.2d 1012, 1014 (1983). 
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ifhe prevails. 

In sum, Ravikovich's CPA claim was based on a different factual 

issue, which was not raised in the prior suit and must be litigated in the 

new one. 

III. V-SQUARED, LLC, FAILED TO CARRY ITS BURDEN 
OF PROOF OF SHOWING THAT THE ISSUES IN ITS 
PRIOR ACTION WERE MATERIAL AND NOT 
MERELY INCIDENTAL OR COLLATERAL TO 
RA VIKOVICH'S PRESENT CPA CLAIM 

The party asserting the doctrine of collateral estoppel has the 

burden to show that the determinative issue was litigated in a prior 

proceeding. 8 Issues not material in the first adjudication, although 

determined therein, do not necessarily become precluded by operation of 

collateral estoppel. 9 

The party asserting the doctrine must prove that the fact 

determined in the first action is essential, and not merely collateral or 

incidental, to the right asserted in the second. 10 

8 Beagles v. Seattle-First National Bank, 25 Wash.App. 925,930,610 P.2d 962 (1980) 
(citing Luisi Truck Lines, Inc. v. Washington Utilities and Transportation Comm'n., 72 
Wash.2d 887, 894,435 P.2d 654 (1967); Meder v. CCME Corp., 7 Wash.App. 801,807, 
502 P.2d 1252 (1972). 
9 Beagles v. Seattle-First National Bank, 25 Wash.App. 925,930,610 P.2d 962 (1980) 
(citing Luisi Truck Lines, Inc. v. Washington Utilities & Transportation Comm 'n, supra; 
Dolby v. Fisher, 1 Wash.2d 181,189,95 P.2d 369 (1939); McGee v. Wineholt, 23 Wash. 
748,751,63 P. 571 (1901). Accord, Dixon v. Fiat-Roosevelt Motors, Inc., 8 Wash. App. 
689,695,509 P.2d 86 (1973)). 
10 Beagles v. Seattle-First National Bank, 25 Wash.App. 925,930,610 P.2d 962 (1980) 
(citing McGee v. Wineholt, supra, 23 Wash. at 751-52,63 P. 571. See also Pacific Nat'l 
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It is usually said that collateral estoppel will not apply unless the 

decision on the issue in the prior action was necessary to the court's 

judgment. II 

Our Supreme Court has recently discussed this question and has 

adopted the distinction between ultimate facts and evidentiary facts 

contained in the Restatement of Judgments. 12 According to the 

Restatement, only questions of fact actually litigated and essential to the 

judgment in the first adjudication become precluded by collateral estoppel: 

(1) Where a question of fact essential to the judgment is actually litigated 

and determined by a valid and final judgment, the determination is 

conclusive between the parties in a subsequent action on a different cause 

of action ... 

(2) A judgment on one cause of action is not conclusive in a subsequent 

action on a different cause of action as to questions of fact not actually 

litigated and determined in the first action. I3 

Actual litigation and determination of an issue is not enough. The 

issue must have been material and essential to the first controversy. 14 It is 

Bank v. Bremerton Bridge Co., 2 Wash.2d 52, 59, 97 P.2d 162 (1939); In re Richland 
Hyatt House, Inc., 18 Wash.App. 426,430,568 P.2d 825 (1977». 
II Restatement (Second) of Judgments §27 (1982). 
12 Beagles v. Seattle-First National Bank, 25 Wash.App. 925,930,610 P.2d 962 (1980) 
(citing Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Kawachi, 91 Wash.2d 223, 588 P.2d 725 (1978». 
13 Beagles v. Seattle-First National Bank, 25 Wash.App. 925, 930, 610 P.2d 962 (1980). 
14 East v. Fields, 42 Wn. 2d 924, 926,259 P.2d 639 (1953). 
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axiomatic that for collateral estoppel by judgment to be applicable, that the 

facts or issues claimed to be conclusive on the parties in the second action 

were actually and necessarily litigated and determined in the prior 

action. 15 

Here, the issues are not the same, and the resolution of one should 

not preclude litigation on the other. Respondent V -Squared brought breach 

of contract action for moneys due against appellant Ravikovich. 

Ravikovich raised statutory defenses based on RCW 18.27.080. 

On the other hand, Washington Consumer Protection Act claim 

brought by appellant Ravikovich in the present suit against respondent V-

Squared, LLC, has nothing in common and absolutely lacks any identical 

issues with classic contract at law. Thus, the Washington Consumer 

Protection Act ("CPA") prohibits "unfair methods of competition and 

unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or 

commerce.,,16 A private cause of action exists under the CPA if (1) the 

conduct is unfair or deceptive, (2) occurs in trade or commerce, (3) affects 

the public interest, and (4) causes injury (5) to plaintiffs business or 

property. 17 Whereas the element of contract: (1) an offer, (2) an 

acceptance in strict compliance with the terms ofthe offer, (3) meeting of 

15 Dixon v. Fiat-Roosevelt Motors, 8 Wash.App. 689,695,509 P.2d 86 (1973). 
16 See RCW 19.86.020. 
17 Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 780 
(1986). 
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the minds, (4) each party's consent to the tenns, and (5) execution and 

delivery of the contract with the intent that it be mutual and binding. IS 

It is not clear as to how the trial court found that absolutely two 

distinct causes of actions had identical issues in prior arbitration to invoke 

collateral estoppel. As clearly seen the elements of CPA claim and a 

contract have nothing in common. Furthennore, assuming arguendo that in 

arbitration between V -Squared and Ravikovich some common issue was 

considered, the trial court still should deny collateral estoppel effect on 

that issues since it was not essential to the decision of the case. If 

Ravikovich did appeal arbitration decision on CPA claim, the appellate 

court would refuse to hear the appeal, since Ravikovich's CPA claim was 

not resolved at that time and did not affect the outcome of the V -Squared, 

LLC, breach of contract suit. There has been no final decision on the issue 

and Ravikovich should not be estopped by the erroneous invocation of 

collateral estoppel by the trial court. 

Consequently, the trial court made an obvious error in dismissing 

Ravikovich's CPA claim. 

IV. THE TRIAL COURT LACKED PROPER RECORD 
WHEN DECIDED TO INVOKE COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL 
AGAINST CURRENT RA VIKOVICH'S CPA CLAIMS 

18 Havsy v. Flynn, 88 Wash.App. 514,518-20,945 P.2d 221 (1997). Winchek v. 
American Express Travel Related Services. Co., 232 S.W.3d 197,202 (2007). 
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When collateral estoppel is asserted as a bar, the record of the prior 

action must be before the trial court so that it may determine if the 

doctrine precludes re-litigation ofthe issue in question. 19 

At the time of its motion for summary judgment, V -Squared, LLC, 

presented the following record to the trial court: 

• Exhibit "A"-- Order Confirming Arbitration Award (CP 10-12). 

• Exhibit "B"-Arbitration Award (CP 13-27). 

• Exhibit "C"-Contract (CP 28-40). 

• Exhibit "D"-Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award (CP 41-55). 

• Exhibit "E"-Submission to Dispute Resolution (CP 56). 

• Exhibit "F"-Clerk's Order of Dismissal (without prejudice) (CP 

57-58). 

• Exhibit "G"--Ravikovich's present CPA Complaint (CP 59-78). 

The record before the trial court was incomplete because V-

Squared, LLC, conveniently omitted submission to the trial court of a 

copy of its original complaint for breach of contract against Ravikovich, as 

well as Ravikovich's answer to the complaint. These were crucial 

documents that reflected particular claims by V -Squared, LLC, against 

Ravikovich, which were necessarily for the trial court's determination as 

19 Beagles v. Seattle-First National Bank, 25 Wash.App. 925, 930, 610 P.2d 962 (1980) 
(citing Bodeneck v. Cater's Motor Freight System, Inc., 198 Wash. 21, 29, 86 P .2d 766 
(1939). See also Rufener v. Scott, 46 Wash.2d 240, 245, 280 P.2d 253 (1955)). 
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to whether Ravikovich's present issues were not similar to the prior cause 

of action commenced by V -Squared, LLC. 

Consequently, the trial court lacked necessary evidence because V­

Squared, LLC, failed to present to the trial court crucial record so that the 

trial court could determine if the doctrine precludes re-litigation of the 

relevant issues. 

E. REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY'S FEE ON APPEAL 

Ravikovich's CPA claims arise from the contract with V-Squared, 

LLC. Pursuant to RCW 4.84.330 the prevailing party is entitled to all of its 

attorney's fees and costs incurred in litigation and in this appeal. Pursuant 

to Rule of Appellate Procedure ("RAP") 18.1, Appellant Ravikovich 

hereby requests such fees and costs incurred in this appeal. At the 

conclusion of this appeal, Appellant Ravikovich will submit supporting 

accounting and calculations reflecting reasonable amount of attorney's 

fees, costs and expenses. 

F. CONCLUSION 

For the preceding reasons, this Court should reverse the judgment 

of dismissal as incorrect and remand this case to the Superior Court for 

further proceedings.