COA No. 69612-2-1 Sup Ct. No. 11-2-19969-0 SEA

# COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALEX RAVIKOVICH,

Appellant,

٧.

V-SQUARED, LLC.

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

INSLEE, BEST, DOEZIE & RYDER, P.S. William A. Linton, WSBA #19975 Attorneys for Respondent 777 - 108th Avenue N.E., Suite 1900 Bellevue, Washington 98004

P.O. Box 90016 Bellevue, Washington 98009-9016 Telephone: (425) 455-1234

### **

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

### IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Standard On Summary Judgment – Ravikovich Failed

To Submit Admissible Evidence Of Contested Material

Facts.

The trial court was entitled to rule as a matter of law that collateral estoppel applied to Mr. Ravikovich's CPA claim. Ravikovich failed to provide any admissible evidence that a material question of fact exists to prevent summary judgment.

The standard of review on summary judgment is well known.

Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, affidavits, and depositions establish that there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); *Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 146 Wn.2d 291, 300-01, 45 P.3d 1068 (2002). We review summary judgment orders de novo. *Folsom v. Burger King*, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998).

Manary v. Anderson, 176 Wn.2d 342, 350, 292 P.3d 96 (2013)

The appellate court sits in the same capacity as the trial court and will affirm dismissal on summary judgment where claimant cannot prove any set of facts justifying recovery.

"We will affirm the trial court's decision where "it appears beyond doubt that the claimant can prove no set of facts, consistent with the complaint, which would justify recovery." Id. We may even consider hypothetical facts to determine whether a trial court properly dismissed a claim." *Kinney v. Cook*, 159 Wn.2d 837, 842, 154 P.3d 206 (2007).

Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc., 176 Wn.2d 909, 922, 296 P.3d 860 (2013) citing San Juan County v. No New Gas Tax, 160 Wn.2d 141, 164, 157 P.3d 831 (2007)

Here, Ravikovich has failed to provide any affidavits indicating the existence of a disputed material fact relevant to a CPA claim. It is admitted that there was an arbitration and that the issue of V-Squared and Mr. Tsemekhman failing to obtain easements were presented and determined by the arbitrator. The allegation that V-Squared failed to get his permission and failed to disclose dealings with Mr. Long were also presented in the arbitration. [See, Ravikovich Post-Hearing Brief, CP 171-172.]

The Post Hearing Brief specifically addresses the claims by Mr.

Ravikovich concerning the Long easements in a section of the Brief entitled "The Long Problem." The Brief states:

Claimant graded the driveway beyond the easement in the site plan a foot or so into Robert Long's property. In addition he disturbed the retaining walls and ground cover. He reached no written agreement with Long, nor

did he clear any agreement with Long, nor did he clear any agreement with Respondent prior to grading. . . . The failure to obtain new easements has left Respondent subject to claims from Long, whether merited or not; and a conundrum between the fire department and the building department over a new plat plan.

[Post Hearing Brief, CP 171-172.]

These are the same allegations contained in Ravikovich's complaint, ie. failure to obtain easements, failure to inform Ravikovich, failure to perform in accord with the contract. [Ravikovich Complaint, CP 60.] "3.9 V-Squared LLC omitted, misrepresented, and/or concealed material fact from Mr. Ravikovich that necessary easement registration and recording with King County was necessary requirement to begin construction work." [CP 60 at 11. 20-22.] The parallel allegations are unmistakable.

The only basis alleged by Mr. Ravikovich that his current CPA claim presents different issues than those determined in the arbitration is that it is not a contract claim. [See, Appellant's Brief, pp. 14-15.] Ravikovich argues (but fails to cite a single supporting case) that because the elements for a breach of contract claim and a CPA claim differ, they cannot involve the same issues for purposes of collateral estoppel. This

is an argument based upon a point of law, not a question of material fact.

Thus the operative facts are not in dispute and the trial court was entitled to determine as a matter of law that collateral estoppel applied.

# B. <u>Collateral Estoppel Was Properly Applied By The</u> Trial Court - The Operative Facts Are The Same.

For collateral estoppel to apply, the following elements must be met: (1) identical issues; (2) a final judgment on the merits; (3) the party against whom the plea is asserted must have been a party to or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication; and (4) application of the doctrine must not work an injustice on the party against whom the doctrine is to be applied. *Shoemaker v. Bremerton*, 109 Wash. 2d 504, 507, 745 P.2d 858 (1987).

The argument that the arbitration was not a final judgment on the merits is not supportable as a matter of law. "[A]n arbitration proceeding may be the basis for collateral estoppel or issue preclusion. *Dunlap*, 22 Wash. App. at 584 (holding that a purchaser of securities, who was unhappy with an arbitration award he won against a stock brokerage firm, was precluded by collateral estoppel from raising the same issues in a suit against the firm's salesman); *Robinson v. Hamed*, 62 Wash. App. 92, 96-97, 813 P.2d 171 (holding that an appellant was

collaterally estopped from relitigating the issue of the truth of the respondent's story concerning their fight at the airport because of the prior arbitration decision concerning that issue), review denied, 118 Wash. 2d 1002, 822 P.2d 287 (1991).

Neff v. Allstate Ins. Co., 70 Wn. App. 796, 800, 855 P.2d 1223 (1993)

"[I]t is well settled that in an appropriate case the decision in an arbitration proceeding may be the basis for collateral estoppel or issue preclusion in a subsequent judicial trial." *Robinson v. Hamed*, 62 Wn. App. 92, 96 n.4, 813 P.2d 171 (1991).

In *Robinson v. Hamed*, the plaintiff made the same arguments advanced by Ravikovich, that because he is now asserting, different legal claim that the "issues" are different. In *Robinson* the Court of Appeals rejected this argument because it conflates res judicata (claim preclusion) with collateral estoppel (issue preclusion):

This argument confuses claim and issue preclusion. In this case the defendants do not argue that the arbitrator decided the defamation claim, but that in making his decision the arbitrator resolved against Hamed a fact question that is essential to his defamation claim. The fact that an arbitrator may not be empowered to decide other legal claims does not prevent preclusive effect being given to the factual determination. In Shoemaker, a city civil service commission determined after a hearing that Shoemaker, a city employee, had been demoted for

"cause" and that the demotion was neither retaliatory nor made in bad faith. The court held that the commission's factual determinations regarding retaliation were entitled to collateral estoppel effect barring the plaintiff's subsequent civil rights claims. Under similar circumstances the Michigan Supreme Court in Fulghum gave preclusive effect to the arbitrator's decision in a subsequent defamation action.

Robinson v. Hamed, 62 Wn. App. 92, 101-102, 813 P.2d 171 (1991)

The doctrine of collateral estoppel differs from res judicata in that instead of preventing a second assertion of the same claim or cause of action, collateral estoppel prevents a second litigation of issues even though a different claim or cause of action is asserted. Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Kawachi, 91 Wn.2d 223, 225-26, 588 P.2d 725 (1978)

Identical Issues. The arbitrator in this case likened the problems with easements and the short plat to "title problems" and held that they are the "responsibility of the Owner, not the Contractor. There is no requirement in the contract for the Contractor to apply for easements." [Arbitrator Decision, CP 19-21.] Thus the question regarding easements and any failure to obtain easements or obtain permission for easement agreements was directly addressed and determined by the arbitrator. Similarly, on the misrepresentation claims, the arbitrator specifically

ruled "Because there are no documents reflecting what was said, nor a contemporaneous memorandum of the negotiations, I cannot conclude that there was any misrepresentation." [Arbitrator's Decision, CP 15-16.]

The argument that the arbitrator only determined contract issues is incorrect and irrelevant. It is incorrect because there were allegations of negligence, fraud, and deception presented to the arbitrator. [Ravikovich Post-Hearing Brief, CP 160-162.] Counsel for Ravikovich cited the arbitration exhibits and testimony for each of the various claims. [Id.]

v. Hamed, it misses the point of collateral estoppel. Issue preclusion prevents relitigation of the operative facts and issues regardless of the specific cause of action. Here, the issues presented and determined by the arbitrator were who had responsibility for where the building and improvements were sited in relation to the site plan and easements. The arbitrator determined whether V-Squared had any duty related to the easements and determined it did not. Therefore the entire question of where Ravikovich's building is situated and how it got there has been

determined to be Mr. Ravikovich's responsibility – not that of V-Squared. Mr. Ravikovich is estopped from now relitigating responsibility for building placement and easements.

Final Judgment. There was clearly a final judgment. [Judgment, Ex. CP 10-12.] It must be noted that there is no provision in the Judgment for determining any additional issues as required by either CR 56 or CR 54. The subsequent motion for reconsideration and stay of the judgment was provisionally approved only if Ravikovich posted a bond. [Order, CP 146-147.] No such bond was ever posted and the judgment remains unpaid.

It must also be noted that Ravikovich has now waived any right to request modification of the arbitrator's decision. Under RCW 7.04A a party has the right to request a modification of an award, RCW 7.04A.210 and to vacate an award, RCW 7.04A.230. On September 16, 2008, Mr. Ravikovich filed a motion with the court to vacate the arbitration award. [CP 41-52.] On October 29, 2008 Judge Erlick entered final judgment against Ravikovich. [CP 10-12.] On November 18, 2008 Judge Erlick entered an order on Ravikovich's motion for reconsideration requiring Ravikovich to file a bond for "150% of the

judgment in this case. In the event such bond is not timely posted, the stay will be automatically lifted." [Order, CP 146-147.] No such bond has ever been posted and the judgment is currently fully enforceable.

To say the finality of the court's judgment has been fully litigated in this case would be an understatement. The judgment in the 2008 case is clearly final. It fully litigated all of the issues currently asserted by Mr. Ravikovich.

Asserted Against Same Party. These are the same parties. Their identities are exactly the same as the litigants in King County Cause No. 08-2-30484-1. The fact that Mr. Long is a party to this lawsuit makes no difference. Mr. Long did not assert any claims in this lawsuit either against Mr. Ravikovich or V-Squared. The only claims are those asserted by Mr. Ravikovich.

No Injustice. There is no injustice in dismissing these claims. Mr. Ravikovich has been represented by counsel at all times in all three lawsuits. He contested the Arbitrator's Decision and lost. He sought reconsideration and was told to post a bond – he didn't. He should not be allowed to use this lawsuit as a means of contesting (once again) the judgment that has been entered against him.

The inescapable conclusion is that the arbitrator determined all issues related to easements at the arbitration. The Post-Hearing statement filed by Mr. Ravikovich remains uncontroverted. No attempt has been made by Mr. Ravikovich to distinguish the arguments he made regarding the easements and positioning of the building, retaining wall, and driveways at the arbitration from those he is currently making before this court. The trial court properly dismissed these claims based upon the doctrine of collateral estoppel and should be affirmed.

### C. V-Squared Is Entitled To Attorney Fees On Appeal.

Ravikovich claims he is entitled to attorney fees on appeal based upon the contract between the parties. [Appellant's Brief, p.17.] "Ravikovich's CPA claims arise from the contract with V-Squared, LLC." [Id.] Aside from the obvious conflict with his arguments that the CPA claims are totally separate and distinct from the underlying contract, this allegation provides a basis for V-Squared to be awared its fees and costs.

Under these circumstances, even if the contract is deemed to be inapplicable or unenforceable, the successful defending party is entitled to its attorney fees and costs:

Accordingly, we conclude that the broad language "[i]n any action on a contract" found in RCW 4.84.330 encompasses any action in which it is alleged that a person is liable on a contract. Further, because General American obtained a judgment dismissing Herzog's cause of action, General American became a "prevailing party" within the meaning of that statutory terminology. Hence, General American was properly entitled to an award of reasonable attorney fees incurred at trial.

Herzog Aluminum v. General Am. Window Corp., 39 Wn. App. 188, 197, 692 P.2d 867 (1984)

In accord with RAP 18.1, V-Squared is entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs on appeal in accord with the terms of the contract [Contract, CP 31] that provides for award of attorney fees and costs in the event of any arbitration or litigation "relating to the project, project performance or this contract . . ."

#### V. CONCLUSION.

The counterclaims and setoffs asserted by Mr. Ravikovich in the arbitration could not be clearer. These are identical claims and issues in this case and therefore the doctrine of collateral estoppel applies. The trial court's dismissal of claims against V-Squared should be affirmed and attorney fees awarded to V-Squared on appeal.